STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY MICHAEL ALEXANDER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000112

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

In this sex abuse case with no physical evidence and where the complainant's credibility was very much in question, whether the trial court erred in charging the jury that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated, violating the rule of State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016)?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in allowing a social worker who provided counseling to the complainant to testify about "sex abuse dynamics" and her treatment of complainant where such testimony improperly bolstered the complainant's credibility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 27, 2013, a Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant Rodney Michael Alexander for two counts of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of lewd act. R. 589 – 594. On October 6, 2015, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury. R. 1. Kristie Bjorndal Hodge and Katherine Weaver Patterson represented appellant. R. 1. Alex R. Stalvey represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 576, ll. 4 – 22. Judge Kelly sentenced appellant to concurrent twenty-year terms of imprisonment for CSC and a consecutive five-year term for lewd act. R. 487, l. 14 – 498, l. 4. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

In this sex abuse case with no physical evidence and where the complainant's credibility was very much in question, the trial court erred in charging the jury that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated, violating the rule of *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016).¹

Factual Background

The credibility of the complainant was in question from the very beginning of this trial. R. 8, l. 24 – 11, l. 16. In her opening statement, the solicitor told the jury that the State's "case is going to be testimonial." R. 9, ll. 15 – 16. The solicitor stated "we will have an eyewitness testify and tell you exactly what happened here. And that will be [complainant]." R. 9, ll. 22 – 23. Anticipating the defense, the solicitor told the jury, "It will be a trial of the victim. Not of the defendant, of the victim. They will try to portray her probably in a bad light or make her have some credibility issues." R. 10, ll. 17 – 24.

The complainant, who was thirteen at the time she alleged appellant abused her and sixteen at the time of trial, admitted that in the past she had "told stories," but denied that she "ever told a story that I know could ruin somebody's life. I would never do that." R. 152, l. 21 – 153, l. 1. Contradicting this claim, complainant later admitted that she once accused a man at her group home of abusing his wife and this allegation was proved false by video evidence. R. 204, l. 6 – 205, l. 21. Complainant said she did not want appellant "to get in trouble. I don't want

¹ In fairness to the trial judge, he did not have the benefit of Stukes at the time this case was tried.

him to get in trouble now. I just want him to be castrated so he can't hurt anybody else." R. 135, l. 21 – 136, l. 1.

Complainant's mother admitted complainant had lied about her. R. 78, l. 25 – 79, l. 2. One of complainant's foster parents testified for the defense that complainant "was not truthful." R. 412, l. 2 – 413, l. 13. The director of Southeastern Children's Home in Greenville, where complainant lived for a time, also testified for the defense about complainant's truthfulness: "[Complainant] is very intelligent. **When she has an agenda for something that she wants, she will manipulate and lie to make sure that it furthers her agenda.**" R. 402, l. 25 – 404, l. 8 (emphasis added).

As the solicitor described it, complainant was "in and out of DSS custody" throughout her life. R. 4, l. 19 – 5, l. 2. She considered appellant and his wife her grandparents. R. 96, l. 15 – 97, l. 11. R. 99, ll. 3 – 13. Not until complainant was eight years old did she learn that appellant and his wife were not her biological grandparents. R. 110, l. 9 – 112, l. 8. Appellant's wife, Nora Alexander ("Nora"), did not find out that she was not complainant's biological grandmother until complainant was three years old. R. 425, ll. 11 – 14. Complainant's mother told Nora's son that complainant was his child, but this was not true. R. 427, l. 25 – 428, l. 11. R. 95, l. 1 – 96, l. 12.

Complainant originally claimed that appellant began abusing her from the time she was two years old. R. 158, ll. 15 – 17. She claimed the abuse began as a "touching game" in which they would touch each other's genitals. R. 99, l. 22 – 103, l. 24. The alleged abuse escalated to sexual intercourse when complainant was approximately eleven or twelve years old. R. 121, l. 17 – 129, l. 7. Appellant had intercourse with her "[p]ossibly four" times. R. 129, ll. 11 – 15. Complainant had lived with the Alexanders off-and-on throughout her life, but went to live with

them after her mother physically abused her in April 2012. R. 265, l. 11 – 268, l. 9. After this violent incident where her mother pulled complainant by her hair down the street, complainant later “pled” with her guardian ad litem to go live with the Alexanders. R. 265, l. 21 – 268, l. 9.

Complainant had multiple opportunities to tell someone about her grandfather’s abuse, but declined to do so until after being punished by her grandparents for being suspended from school and for conduct with a seventeen year-old boy (“QC”). R. 188, l. 12 – 193, l. 21. R. 448, l. 19 – 449, l. 7. Complainant, who was then thirteen, considered herself QC’s girlfriend. R. 182, ll. 21 – 23. Complainant’s friends thought QC “was the cutest guy in school.” R. 223, ll. 5 – 17. Her grandmother found out about QC and told complainant they should “just be friends.” R. 182, l. 24 – 183, l. 22. Appellant called QC’s grandmother to let QC’s family know they should not be involved with each other due to the difference in their ages. R. 183, l. 23 – 184, l. 9.

During the DSS investigation of the mother’s physical abuse, complainant told the caseworkers she wanted to live with her grandparents. R. 167, l. 24 – 168, l. 14. One of the DSS caseworkers testified for the defense and said that complainant never expressed any concerns about how things were going with the Alexanders. R. 401, ll. 21 – 23. Complainant told the workers at her group home, Pendleton Place, that she wanted to live with her grandparents. R. 167, ll. 19 – 23. Complainant had a close relationship with the school resource officer and never told the officer that her grandfather was abusing her. R. 187, ll. 6 – 188, l. 11.

Even in a forensic interview at the Julie Valentine Center about her mother’s abuse, when complainant was specifically asked if she had been sexually abused or ever had sexual intercourse, complainant answered no. R. 169, ll. 3 – 173, l. 8. When the forensic interviewer asked her who she would tell if she were molested, complainant told the forensic interviewer,

“My grandma **or my grandfather** or a teacher.” R. 179, ll. 14 – 22 (emphasis added).

Complainant also had six sessions with a counselor before making her allegations and did not tell the counselor about any abuse by her grandfather. R. 379, ll. 1 – 3. R. 361, l. 19 – 365, l. 19.

Complainant made these allegations against her grandfather to her grandmother while they were at a meeting at DJJ. R. 129, l. 24 – 133, l. 16. Complainant was at DJJ because of a fight she had been in “a year before.” R. 130, l. 25 – 131, l. 2. She had also been suspended from school that week because she “got into a physical altercation with a guy at my school.” R. 130, ll. 19 – 24. Complainant took her grandmother into the bathroom at DJJ and told her that appellant had been molesting her. R. 131, l. 23 – 132, l. 5.

Complainant and her grandmother’s accounts of their conversation in the bathroom differed. Complainant said her grandmother held her and told her appellant would never do it again. R. 132, ll. 5 – 9. The grandmother testified that she immediately knew complainant was lying and told her so. R. 439, ll. 10 – 20. When they returned home, appellant’s wife told him about complainant’s allegations. R. 51, l. 20 – 52, l. 8. He denied abusing her and told his wife to call the police. R. 52, ll. 6 – 8. The grandmother confronted complainant, complainant said she “didn’t care,” went back up to her room, broke a window and ran away. R. 52, l. 22 – 53, l. 18. The grandmother called the police. R. 53, ll. 23 – 25.

Complainant said she ran away because she had “seen a lot of CSI Miami shows” and did not “want to be the evidence he was getting rid of.” R. 133, ll. 4 – 10. Despite being in fear for her life, instead of calling the police, the first person complainant called when she ran away was QC. R. 194, l. 22 – 195, l. 5. QC told her he had another girlfriend and complainant got angry. R. 197, ll. 4 – 16.

Complainant then called another boy (“GF”). R. 196, ll. 22 – 25. GF’s mother picked her up, took her to McDonald’s, then back to their house. R. 32, l. 4 – 33, l. 14. GF’s mother had complainant call her grandmother to let her know that she was safe, and then GF’s mother spoke to the grandmother. R. 33, l. 6 – 34, l. 20. The grandmother was angry with complainant and GF’s mother agreed to take complainant to McDonald’s to meet her. R. 34, l. 21 – 35, l. 23. After making the plan to return complainant to the Alexanders, complainant then told GF’s mother she had been sexually abused. R. 36, ll. 1 – 12. GF’s mother called the police. R. 37, ll. 21 – 24. Complainant and GF’s mother had never met before that night. R. 40, ll. 14 – 18. Complainant later told her DSS caseworker that she wanted to be adopted by GF’s parents. R. 223, l. 21 – 224, l. 4.

Discussion

The trial court erroneously charged that a sexual abuse victim’s testimony does not need to be corroborated. R. 564, l. 25 – 565, l. 2. Judge Kelly charged, “Section 16-3-657 of the South Carolina code provides that the testimony of the victim in criminal sexual conduct prosecutions need not be corroborated by other testimony or evidence.” R. 564, l. 25 – 565, l. 2. Appellant objected to this charge. R. 570, l. 19 – 571, l. 4. The solicitor told Judge Kelly the charge was proper under State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006). Judge Kelly noted appellant’s objection and ruled “it is a proper charge.” R. 571, ll. 8 – 15.

In State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), our Supreme Court reversed, finding the “no corroboration” charge improper. The Court held, “By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury.” Id. at ___, 787 S.E.2d at 483. “The charge invites the jury to believe the

victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.” Id. Here, trial counsel anticipated the Court’s ruling in Stukes when he argued that the charge “focuses the jury’s attention on the victim’s testimony.” R. 570, ll. 22 – 25.

The Stukes Court also held that the giving of this charge cannot be harmless when the case hinges on credibility. Id. No physical evidence existed in this case. As shown above, the complainant’s credibility was the central focus of the entire trial. Complainant only claimed appellant abused her after her grandparents disciplined her for being suspended at school and forbade her relationship with the seventeen-year old QC. QC was the first person complainant called when she ran away. The director of a group home said complainant would manipulate and lie to further her own agenda. R. 402, l. 25 – 404, l. 8.

The solicitor said in closing that “[w]itness credibility in this case is hugely important.” R. 540, l. 19. When arguing to the jury about how they should judge complainant’s credibility, the solicitor told them, “What motive does she have to make this story up? What reason does she have to lie?” R. 541, ll. 10 – 15.

Furthermore, the solicitor specifically emphasized the improper Stukes charge as she ended her closing argument. R. 552, l. 23 – 553, l. 5. The solicitor argued:

[Complainant] is the only one you have to believe in this case to find the defendant guilty.

As the judge will tell you, her testimony doesn’t have to be corroborated, although it has been by the State’s other witnesses, by LaQuinta telling you what she saw the defendant doing to the child, by the defense and State witnesses telling you that this defendant had access to the child, by Erica Van Wagner describing exactly the symptoms that [complainant] has experienced. **But [complainant] is the only one you have to believe.** She’s the eyewitness in this case. . . .

I submit to you that [complainant] is telling the truth. She has told you her story. Take that story, find the defendant guilty, hold him accountable and give this child the justice she desires.

R. 552, l. 21 – 553, l. 21 (emphasis added). Because complainant's credibility was the centerpiece of the State's case and the solicitor's emphasis on the improper charge in closing, the error in this case cannot be harmless under Stukes. This Court should reverse.

The trial court erred in allowing a social worker who provided counseling to the complainant to testify about “sex abuse dynamics” and her treatment of complainant where such testimony improperly bolstered the complainant’s credibility.

The State called Erica Van Wagner (“Van Wagner”) as an expert in “child sex abuse dynamics.” R. 286, ll. 22 – 24. Van Wagner was not a psychiatrist, nor a psychologist, but a social worker. R. 282, ll. 2 – 10. The trial judge held an extensive *in camera* hearing on the admissibility of her testimony. R. 281, l. 9 – 287, l. 8.

The State proffered her testimony at the hearing, which consisted of cherry-picked sexual abuse characteristics that matched complainant’s testimony. Van Wagner testified about “grooming” and buying gifts, which matched complainant’s claim that her grandfather bought her “a new toy every day.” R. 292, l. 15 – 293, l. 11 (Van Wagner). R. 99, ll. 14 – 16 (complainant). Van Wagner testified about why children do not report abuse right away, explaining that children fear foster care and the breakdown of the family. R. 293, l. 15 – 294, l. 17. This matched complainant’s long history with DSS. The social worker also testified children do not disclose abuse because they are not sure whether the “non-offending caregiver” would be supportive. R. 298, l. 15 – 299, l. 1. This matched complainant’s testimony that she only told her grandmother about the abuse when she saw her grandmother vigorously defending her at DJJ. R. 130, l. 9 – 133, l. 16. Van Wagner also corroborated complainant’s testimony that she would have something akin to out-of-body experiences during the abuse by discussing the concept of “disassociation.” R. 113, ll. 5 – 9 (complainant). R. 305, l. 19 – 306, l. 7 (Van Wagner).

Van Wagner was complainant's counselor. R. 306, ll. 8 – 12. Van Wagner began treating complainant because of her mother's physical abuse. R. 306, ll. 8 – 22. Complainant did not disclose the sexual abuse to Van Wagner until after the report to the police. R. 308, l. 14 – 309, l. 23. Van Wagner did "a new trauma assessment" which showed scores that "were elevated for sexual distress in sexual concerns, general sexual concerns." R. 309, ll. 8 – 23.

At the conclusion of the hearing, trial counsel objected to Van Wagner's testimony because she had treated complainant and her testimony would "improperly bolster the credibility of the witness." R. 320, l. 20 – 321, l. 18. Relying on this Court's analysis in State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App., 2015), appellant argued that "a blind expert" would be required under the circumstances of this case because having treated complainant, Van Wagner "would be indirectly vouching for the credibility of the victim in the case." R. 321, l. 19 – 323, l. 5. The trial judge took the motion under advisement overnight. R. 326, l. 25 – 327, l. 8.

The next morning, Judge Kelly ruled that Van Wagner's testimony was admissible. R. 334, l. 4 – 338, l. 1. Judge Kelly ruled that improper bolstering "occurs when the expert witness is allowed to give her opinion as to the truthfulness of the complaining witness." R. 336, ll. 8 – 17. The trial judge stated that, "Here, the expert witness is testifying to her personal observations and interactions with the complaining witness, not her truthfulness." R. 336, ll. 14 – 17. Appellant objected again in front of the jury, and the objection was overruled. R. 339, ll. 11 – 14. Appellant again objected when the State offered Van Wagner as an expert. R. 345, ll. 21 – 22. Trial counsel also objected when the State began questioning Van Wagner about her treatment of complainant. R. 361, ll. 5 – 11. These objections were overruled. Van Wagner testified before the jury consistent with her testimony during the proffer. R. 340, ll. 7 – 368, l. 8.

Van Wagner also testified that she recommended that complainant continue treatment after her last session. R. 368, ll. 1 – 8.

Allowing Van Wagner's testimony was error under State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2015) and State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). Anderson stated that to "allow the person who examined the child to testify to the characteristics of victims runs the risk that the expert will vouch for the alleged victim's credibility." Id. at 218-19, 776 S.E.2d at 79. "The better practice, however, is not to have the individual who examined the alleged victim testify, but rather to call an independent expert." Id. Here, appellant objected under precisely this reasoning: that the State should use a "blind expert" to testify about child abuse dynamics. Despite this warning, the State persisted in using Van Wagner for the exact reasons condemned in Anderson: to indirectly bolster complainant's testimony.