ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000112

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RODNEY MICHAEL ALEXANDER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAR 31 2017
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge's error in charging the jury pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 that the Victim's testimony need not be corroborated was harmless, as it was an insubstantial error not affecting the result of trial.

Relevant Facts

During his charge to the jury, the trial judge instructed in part, "Section 16-3-657 of the South Carolina code provides that the testimony of the victim in criminal sexual conduct prosecutions need not be corroborated by other testimony or evidence." R. pp. 564-65. Defense Counsel objected to the charge, arguing, "Our objection would be that it points out to the jury or sheds light or focuses the jury's attention on the victim's testimony and would be improper in this case." R. p. 570. The Trial judge overruled Defense Counsel's objection, ruling:

Your objection is noted, but the Court finds that it is a proper charge, and it's one sentence long. And furthermore, the record will show that the Court did not elaborate, did not dwell on that, and if we need to, I can make - - well I don't need to. We've got a record. But it is exactly - - in our charge, it's exactly one sentence long. So I did not dwell on it in any fashion whatsoever and moved on.

R. p. 571.

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial court committed reversible error by instructing the jury that the testimony of the victim in criminal sexual conduct prosecutions need not be corroborated by other testimony or evidence. Appellant further avers the error could not be harmless because Victim's credibility was the centerpiece of the State's case. Appellant identifies statements made by the Solicitor during closing argument where she emphasized that Victim is the only person the jury had to believe in the case to find Appellant guilty.¹ Appellant's argument that any error

¹ Appellant fails to acknowledge this is a correct and proper statement of the law in South Carolina regardless of the propriety of the Court charging the language of the statute to the jury.

could not be harmless is wholly without merit. The trial judge's single sentence jury charge did not garner the requisite harm to warrant reversal. Further, the Solicitor undoubtedly would have argued during closing argument that Victim was the only person the jury needed to believe regardless of whether the trial judge charged the jury that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated.

As quoted above, the trial court, pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 117-18, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006), instructed the jury that a rape victim's testimony need not be corroborated.² This instruction, previously found appropriate and consistent with the legislature's remedial intent by our Supreme Court in Rayfield,³ ten years later was found confusing and unconstitutional by the same Court in State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). In Stukes, the trial court instructed the jury on the no-corroboration requirement. While deliberating, the jury sent the trial court a note, asking: "[T]he South Carolina law that the victim's testimony in CSC . . . does not need to be corroborated, . . . does that law imply that the victim's testimony **must be accepted as being true**?" (emphasis added). Rather than respond directly to the jury's question, the trial court recharged the general law on credibility. The jury immediately returned a guilty verdict. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 497, 787 S.E.2d at 482. The Supreme Court observed "it is inescapable that this charge confused the jury" as "illustrated by the jury's query as to whether our law implies a victim's testimony must be accepted as being true." Id. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. If it is "inescapable" that the jury in Stukes was confused because it asked whether the charge required that it accept the victim's

² S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 provides: "The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658." Instructing the jury on this statute was first found acceptable in State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

³ Given Rayfield's finding that the instruction was consistent with legislative intent, the trial court would have been remiss to not give the instruction and not carry out the legislative intent. Ten years passed between Rayfield and Stukes and the legislature did not alter the statute.

testimony as true then it should be equally inescapable that the jury in Appellant's case was not confused because it asked no such question and clearly was unafraid of asking questions of the trial judge, as the jury asked to be re-charged on reasonable doubt.

Turning to the trial court's reaction to the jury note in Stukes, the Supreme Court lamented, "In our view the trial court's decision to merely recharge credibility, as opposed to answer the question in the negative, did nothing to inform the jury on this issue." Id. This lamentation strongly suggests that if the trial court had answered in the negative, the Stukes court would have found the error harmless. The Supreme Court's subsequent finding that the instruction was prejudicial because the case hinged on victim's credibility must be taken in the context in which it was made. That context was a unique situation where a confused jury who asked if the charge mandated a finding of guilt and was then not offered clarification that it did not. It was under these circumstances that the Stukes Court focused on credibility and the lack of other evidence.

In the instant case, Appellant complains the corroboration charge was harmful because "complainant's credibility was the centerpiece of the state's case and the solicitor's emphasis on the improper charge in closing, the error in this case cannot be harmless under Stukes." App. Br. p. 9. However, the corroboration instruction is a correct statement of law; juries may convict if they believe the victim's testimony regardless of the lack of corroboration. If the jury correctly applied the law, there is no prejudice. The prejudice in Stukes arose when the jury appeared to "inescapably" misunderstand the instruction based on its note to the trial court. See State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975) (noting jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions). In the current case, there is no evidence the jury misunderstood the trial court's correct statement of law. Therefore, any error was harmless.

II.

The trial judge properly allowed the State's expert to testify regarding behaviors she observed in the victim, as well as offering general testimony on the dynamics of child sexual abuse. The expert did not impermissibly bolster or vouch for the child at any time in her testimony.

Relevant Facts

At trial, the State called Erica Van Wagner as a witness. R. p. 339. Prior to Wagner's testimony before the jury, the trial judge held an *in camera* hearing. R. pp. 281-318. Van Wagner is a mental health therapist and is employed with the Greenville Mental Health Center. R. p. 281. Van Wagner supervises the Greenville Mental Health DSS program where she works primarily with clients that are involved with DSS due to abuse or neglect. R. p. 282. Van Wagner testified Victim was a client of hers beginning in April of 2012. R. p. 306. Van Wagner stated, "She initially came to me for assessment because she was placed in foster care due to allegations of physical abuse by mom, and I provided treatment to her while she was placed at a group home in Greenville. R. p. 306. Van Wagner had approximately twenty sessions with victim. R. p. 306. Victim told her during a later appointment that she had disclosed sexual abuse to the police and was now in foster care once again. R. p. 307. The Solicitor asked Van Wagner whether, prior to the disclosure of sexual abuse, there was any discussion between she, Appellant, and Grandmother about Victim needing to continue treatment. Van Wagner replied:

There was. At the first appointment that they came to after she had been returned home, it seemed to be the family's decision that she didn't need treatment, and they had been meeting with the psychiatrist. And the psychiatrist asked me to come in, and we kind of talked about all that had been going on, her having been the victim of physical abuse and not really having much treatment um until that point. And it was the recommendation of myself and the psychiatrist to continue ongoing therapy to aid in the transition and to address the history of physical abuse.

R. pp. 307-08. Van Wagner also provided a great deal of background testimony regarding the dynamics of child sexual abuse. See R. pp. 288-306.

At the conclusion of Van Wagner's *in camera* testimony, Defense Counsel made a motion to exclude her testimony, arguing:

Your Honor, the second objection and basis of my motion to exclude her testimony would be based on the fact that she actually treated this child beginning in April of 2012 which was five or six months - - five months prior to the allegations being made. I don't think there's any way, and I don't - - it's my understanding that the State is not intending to keep that away from the jury. So the jury is going to have that information, and even if the State agreed that they wouldn't bring that up, I would still have the opportunity to bring that up. Either way, it serves to improperly bolster the credibility of the witness. I understand that the State is going to argue that Ms. Van Wagner is not going to directly vouch for the credibility of this witness, and I have no problem with that. However, Judge, the fact that she's established a relationship with this witness and then that relationship extended five months up until these allegations and the fact that she is then going to say that these types - - this type of behavior is commonly seen in victims of child sexual abuse, Judge, it indirectly bolsters the victims' credibility. It's improper.

R. pp. 320-21. The trial judge found:

Expert witnesses testifying concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to the assault by the experts is admissible and relevant because it is helpful in explaining to the jury typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. Here, her testimony is based on her personal observations. The defense also argues because the witness was treating the complaining witness prior to the disclosure, her testimony is bolstering in violation of Cromer (sic). Improper bolstering occurs when the expert witness is allowed to give her opinion as to the truthfulness of the complaining witness. Here, the expert witness is testifying to her personal observations and interactions with the complaining witness, not her truthfulness.

R. pp. 335-36. Van Wagner's subsequent testimony in front of the jury was consistent with her *in camera* testimony. R. pp. 339-91. On direct examination, Van Wagner testified about general information regarding child sexual abuse dynamics. R. pp. 347-61. Van Wagner also testified about her personal observations and experiences in treating Appellant. R. pp. 361-68. Van Wagner again noted Appellant and Grandmother did not wish for Victim to continue treatment,

prompting Victim's psychiatrist to bring Van Wagner in to discuss it and, "We determined that we would continue treatment to address the physical abuse as well as to aid in the transition out of foster care and back into relative placement." R. p. 363. The Solicitor later asked, "When she finally stopped coming to you the last time you saw her, was it your opinion that she needed to continue on treatment after that?" Van Wagner responded, "It was. She was moved to a placement that was outside of the Greenville area. I had requested to continue providing the treatment. But it was my understanding that there was a provider at her new placement that would continue." R. p. 368.

Discussion

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in allowing Van Wagner to offer general testimony on the dynamics of sexual abuse as well as recounting her treatment of Victim because the testimony improperly bolstered Victim's credibility. Appellant offers two arguments as to why Van Wagner's testimony constitutes improper bolstering. First, Appellant contends the admission of Van Wagner's testimony was error under State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2016), because allowing her to testify to the characteristics of victims where she was also a care-provider for Victim vouched for Victim's credibility. Second, Appellant contends the Solicitor's question to Van Wagner where she noted it was her opinion that Victim needed to continue receiving treatment improperly bolstered Victim's testimony in violation of State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). Both of Appellant's arguments lack merit. Van Wagner's testimony did not improperly bolster Victim's credibility, as she did not indicate at any time that she believed Victim's testimony. Instead, Van Wagner's testimony was segregated into two categories: 1) her personal interactions with Appellant, and 2) background testimony regarding the dynamics of child sexual abuse. Similarly, the complained of question by the

Solicitor and answer by Van Wagner did not improperly bolster Victim's credibility, as the current situation is easily distinguishable from that in Chavis.

As to Appellant's first argument, the trial judge's decision to allow Van Wagner's testimony was not error under Anderson. As Appellant correctly notes, the Court in Anderson found that in cases involving experts in child abuse assessment, "The **better** practice, however, is not to have the individual who examined the alleged victim testify, but rather to call an independent expert. To allow the person who examined the child to testify to the characteristics of victims **runs the risk** that the expert will vouch for the alleged victim's credibility." 413 S.C. at 218-19, 776 S.E.2d at 79 (emphasis added). It is important to note that while Anderson notes that it is a "better practice" to use an independent expert because it "runs the risk" of improper bolstering, the practice of having an expert who treated the victim offer general testimony on the dynamics of child sexual abuse is not going to yield improper bolstering in all cases. In the present case, Van Wagner offered: 1) testimony regarding her history as a care-provider with Victim and what those interactions entailed and 2) background testimony concerning the dynamics of child sexual abuse. Van Wagner did not improperly vouch for Victim's credibility at any time. Both categories of testimony offered by Van Wagner have been held to be admissible by South Carolina Courts. See State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 360, 737 S.E. 2d 490, 500 (2013) (allowing witness to testify to "any personal observations regarding the child's behavior or demeanor"); see also Anderson, 413 S.C. at 218, 776 S.E.2d at 79 ("Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise: this is the type of expert who can, for example, testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.") see e.g., State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999); see also State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540 (2004) (such witness may be more crucial

where alleged victim is a child)).” Improper bolstering occurs when an expert witness is allowed to give his or her opinion as to whether the complaining witness is, telling the truth, because that is an ultimate issue of fact and the inference to be drawn is not beyond the ken of the average juror. State v. Douglas 367 S.C. 498, 521, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006), *rev’d in part on other grounds*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009). Van Wagner’s testimony did not invade the province of the jury or serve as a comment on the credibility or veracity of the victim. Van Wagner did not give testimony at any time indicating she believed Victim. Finally, the present situation is distinguishable from that in Anderson because Van Wagner was not a forensic interviewer and did not specifically tailor her testimony to the types of behavior she observed in Appellant. Not only was Van Wagner not a forensic interviewer, she was originally not even treating Appellant for sexual abuse. The fact that Van Wagner was treating Appellant for physical abuse further distinguishes the current situation from Anderson.

As to Appellant’s second argument, Van Wagner’s comment that she recommended that Victim continue receiving treatment did not constitute improper bolstering under State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). As a threshold matter, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. Appellant failed to contemporaneously object when Van Wagner made the complained of comments. Appellant’s arguments below concerning improper bolstering were made on entirely different grounds. Appellant’s argument concerning Chavis, thus, is not preserved for appellate review. “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003).

Turning to the merits of Appellant's argument raised for the first time on appeal, in Chavis, a forensic interviewer testified regarding her recommendation that the victim in the case "not be around [Appellant] for any reason." Id. at 108. The South Carolina Supreme Court concluded that the forensic interviewer's comment constituted improper bolstering, as the recommendation that Chavis not be around the victim for any reason could only be interpreted as the interviewer believing the victim's claim that Chavis sexually abused her. Id. at 109. The current case is immediately distinguishable from Chavis. Van Wagner testified *in camera* as well as earlier on direct examination that despite protestations from Victim's family, she recommended continuing treatment from the outset because of Victim's history of physical abuse. Allegations of sexual abuse notwithstanding, Victim had as trying a life as one can imagine, having been taken out of her mother's custody on several occasions for a multitude of reasons, including physical abuse. Victim fluctuated between foster homes, DSS, and the homes of family members, and had a number of reported behavioral problems including fights at school, necessitating contact with DJJ. Having heard all this testimony, the jury did not take Van Wagner's comment regarding continuing treatment to mean that Van Wagner believed Victim was telling the truth with respect to the allegation of sexual abuse by Appellant. Rather, Van Wagner was simply pointing out that it was her professional opinion that Victim needed continued psychological care because of a history of physical abuse and behavioral problems that necessitated the use of Van Wagner as a DSS mental health therapist in the first place, as she consistently advocated for prior to the allegations against Appellant even coming to light.⁴ Van

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